PLANNING COMMISSION
Meeting Minutes

Monday, December 18, 2023 — 7:00 pm

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Commission Present: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Engdahl, Havel, Heath, and
Tiernan

Commission Absent: None

Staff Present: City Attorney Gary Bell (via Zoom), Community Development Director Vicki
Parker, Deputy Director Steve Marshall, Senior Planner Kaitlin Zitelli, and Katie Green (Rincon
Consultants via Zoom)

B. APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Tiernan and second by
Commissioner Crockett, the Planning Commission voted 7-0 via roll call to approve the
final agenda.

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Engdahl, Havel, Heath, and Tiernan
NOES: None

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: None

Motion Carried.

C. PUBLIC COMMENT - NONE

D. CONSENT ITEM - NONE

E. UNFINISHED AND OTHER BUSINESS - NONE
F. PUBLIC HEARING

F.1. GENERAL PLAN (LAND USE MAP & TEXT) AND ZONING MAP AMENDMENTS
CONSISTENT WITH PROGRAM 1.A. OF NOVATO’S 6th CYCLE HOUSING ELEMENT;
PUBLIC HEARING AND POSSIBLE ACTION TO RECOMMEND THE CITY COUNCIL
ADOPT RESOLUTIONS: (1) FINDING THE AMENDMENTS TO BE EXEMPT FROM
FURTHER CEQA REVIEW PER CEQA GUIDELINES SECTION 15162 AND 15164; AND (2)

Page | 1 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF THE GENERAL PLAN LAND USE MAP AND ZONING
MAP AMENDMENTS IN ORDER TO IMPLEMENT PROGRAM 1.A. OF THE 6th CYCLE
HOUSING ELEMENT

Deputy Director Marshall presented the staff report.
Commissioner Engdahl asked how the three (3) subject properties were identified.

Deputy Director Marshall stated that all property owners had expressed interest in their
properties being designated to allow residential development.

Chair Heath opened the public hearing.

Steve Ghirardo stated that he and Jerry Ghirardo are the owners of the Meadow Crest
property. They are in favor of the proposal. However, they are concerned about just 1-acre of
their property being designated for residential development. He stated they had not been
involved with this decision and asked how this was determined. He also requested that staff
forward his last email to the Planning Commission.

Jerry Ghirardo said the Meadow Crest property had been zoned for commercial use, and 15-
years ago an office building project was proposed. Now residential use is the best use for the
property. However, he wants to sit down with staff and go over the topography of the site as
1-acre for development is very limiting.

Ben Oyle said his home is very close to the Landing Court site and there needs to be a better
buffer between the existing homes on Clausing Court and the proposed homes on Landing
Court. He said the damage to the quality of life to one neighborhood is dramatic. He didn'’t
support changing the land use and zoning of the Landing Court property.

Joe Dorsey said the Landing Court site is a problematic property because of fire safety and
egress due to the slope of the site. He preferred an office building on the site because people
go home, and the site is vacant on nights and weekends when existing residents are home.
He didn’t support changing the land use and zoning of the Landing Court property.

Jesika Whitehouse, a resident of Clausing Court, stated the proposal for Landing Court is not
in the best interest of the residents; it is good for developers. She commented on the high-
density project proposed by AMG very close to this site and stated that sufficient infrastructure
to support the Landing Court site does not exist.

Beatriz Chan stated she was shocked that Novato wanted to build a big building in this area
[Landing Court], and that it would be a disaster as there would be too many people and cause
traffic gridlock during rush hour. She moved away from low income housing and felt a raw
sense of impact to the community.

Chris Beering commented that 350 units are proposed around the corner from the Landing
Court site. He said there are no sidewalks on Landing Court and there should be more of a
buffer between the existing and proposed development. He preferred development at the top
of the hill and stated that water runoff from the site will impact the existing homes.

Page | 2 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Klaus Larsen said he is part of the ‘Clausing Ave. Coalition’ and cares about his neighborhood.
He asked the Commission to consider cumulative development in the Landing Court area and
stated there is an unfair hardship on the existing residents because of the projects currently
proposed in the area.

Emily Larsen asked the Commission to reconsider the Landing Court proposal saying the
2018 proposal for a live/work project kept development in a far corner of the site, however,
now development is proposed elsewhere on the site. She said many homes on Clausing Court
are one-story homes still occupied by the original owners and that they will be impacted by
the proposed development. She referenced AMG'’s project on Landing Court.

Chair Heath Closed the public hearing.

Director Parker noted that density bonuses cannot be considered for the purpose of RHNA
numbers. For Marin County, the minimum density is 20 units per acre, so R20 zoning is
required.

Commissioner Tiernan noted the Ghirardo brothers were present at the meeting and asked if
they could respond to the proposal.

Jerry Ghirardo stated they had just received the notice regarding the proposal, and it stunned
them. The analysis of the slope was based on a commercial project from 15-years ago and
there is more buildable area on the site based on the City’s ordinances.

Steve Ghirardo said the previous use of the site was an office and that should not be used
against them. He said that 22 percent of the site is a 15 percent slope or lower, and that the
average is not relevant.

Commissioner Crockett contrasted the development of office against residential units on the
Landing Court property. He acknowledged the pressure of housing law, including density
bonuses. He questioned changing the intensity of development of this property.

Commissioner Dawson stated the Novato Boulevard property makes sense [for a change to
residential use]; Meadow Crest has one area [to develop with housing] and it might be extreme
to limit it to 1-acre. For Landing Court, a density bonus is a forgone conclusion. Were other
sites considered or just sites available.

Director Parker commented the State does not allow the inclusion of density bonus projections
— must consider straight zoning. There are requirements by statute that we include a rezone
program meeting the minimum Mullin density — for Marin County this is 20 units per acre.
Rezones need to be a minimum of 20 dwelling units per acre and the R20 designation gets us
there. We considered the inventory of pipeline projects and two sites with owner interest.
Landing Court was already in the pipeline at 32 units and the rezone would increase the
dwelling count by 13 units.

Deputy Director Marshall explained the reasoning behind the 1-acre area at the Meadow Crest
property and referenced the slope constraints map for the former office project. He described
slope conditions and constraints, addressed the prominence of building in certain locations,

Page | 3 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

and noted tree resources. Staff felt that if an office was acceptable then residential should be
acceptable in the same location.

Commissioner Derby asked about the current status of the Housing Element.

Director Parker stated the Housing Element was adopted in January 2023 and that comments
were received from HCD (California Department of Housing and Community Development).
Staff worked with a consultant to prepare revisions to the Housing Element in response and
received subsequent comments from HCD on December 15, 2023. The Commission will have
an opportunity to look at the revisions.

Commissioner Derby asked about publishing and bringing the Housing Element back to the
Commission.

Director Parker indicated the revisions had been posted to the City’s website with clean and
track-change versions. She noted the only site change is the movement of Landing Court site
as a pipeline site to a rezone site; other changes are related to affirmatively furthering fair
housing (AFFH).

Commissioner Derby asked if the CEQA document only addressed the three properties.
Director Parker said we’re only considering these three properties; other sites are considered
in the CEQA document, including the Fireman’s Fund site and others as “no net loss” sites.

She referenced HCD'’s site selection guidebook. She explained no net loss requirements.

Commissioner Derby asked to confirm Exhibit B-1 — Were AMG’s buildings in the original
Housing Element?

Director Parker confirmed all three AMG projects on Grant Avenue are in the original Housing
Element as pipeline projects.

Commissioner Derby asked if a lower density was possible.

Director Parker said an alternative analysis is allowed - lower densities need to be justified;
this would require much further analysis to be accepted by HCD. What you see here with the
two sites with the open space component is our attempt to get at the feasible area of
development and being as sensitive as possible to surrounding properties and respecting the
Hillside Ordinance.

Commissioner Engdahl asked about outreach to the Clausing neighborhood.

Deputy Director Marshall said standard city notice postcards were sent to the neighborhood.

Commissioner Engdahl asked how the 1-acre area was selected for the Meadow Crest parcel;
was the past commercial project an example for residential development.

Deputy Director Marshall confirmed this summary.

Page | 4 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Commissioner Engdahl expressed concern the owners of the Meadow Crest property wanted
to meet with staff and that didn’t happen.

Deputy Director Marshall said this is a staff-initiated recommendation. It has been known the
site was identified for 20-units.

Commissioner Engdahl asked if there was time limit to adopt the resolution.
Deputy Director Marshall stated the deadline is the end of January 2024.
Commissioner Tiernan invited the Ghirardo brothers to respond.

Jerry Ghirardo expressed concern that notice was only recently received; they were stunned
by the 1-acre recommendation. He understands hillside constraints; there is much more site
that can be built. He just wants an opportunity to meet and discuss — can prepare studies
without any extended delay. We don’t want to delay anything — just want opportunity to look
at more than 1-acre.

Steve Ghirardo stated the office building proposal over a decade ago was at 24,000 sq. ft. - it
was 3% of land size and wasn’'t maxing anything out — don’t use this past project as a
constraint. He expressed concern about noticing - 20% of our site has a 15% slope.

Commissioner Tiernan asked if the owners came back could they ask for a rezoning — is a
rezone an involved process.

Deputy Director Marshall described the hierarchy of permits and noted there is an involved
process — legislative action with full discretion whether to allow. He provided an example of a
voluntary amendment process.

Commissioner Tiernan asked a series of questions around the application of a density bonus.

Director Parker and Deputy Director Marshall clarified that a density bonus projection cannot
be used for RHNA, but actual density bonus units produced can be counted toward RHNA.

Commissioner Havel confirmed his understanding of the purpose of the actions — meeting
RHNA based on staff initiated general plan amendments and rezones.

Deputy Director Marshall confirmed this circumstance and reiterated State requirements.
Commissioner Havel noted hearings on the Housing Element and community engagement
through that process. He described various aspects of State housing law, including referencing
Builder's Remedy.

Deputy Director Marshall summarized Builder's Remedy.

Commissioner Havel recounted the hearing process and meetings surrounding the Housing

Element. He mentioned hearing seeds of misinformation about the housing element, and
noted it doesn’t help the community. Staff's recommendations are an attempt to meet the

Page | 5 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

mandates of the State. He acknowledged the Ghirardos’ and the fact they could apply for a
project.

Deputy Director Marshall, in reference to the Wood Hollow parcel, explained that if a
development project runs into constraints [governmental] then density bonus law can be used
to overcome those constraints with or without taking advantage of the additional dwellings
offered by such a bonus.

Commissioner Havel stated if there is recommendation [favorable] to the City Council for the
three properties — there is no design nor automatic approval - all go through development
review process.

Deputy Director Marshall said the properties would be subject to design review and limited to
considering objective design standards, reflecting a ministerial review.

Commissioner Havel asked about the public input process.
Deputy Director Marshall explained public input is allowed by some streamlining laws.

Chair Heath asked how moderate units related to density bonus — can you build more units,
but they become low income and no longer fill moderate income.

Deputy Director Marshall explained that density bonuses are offered at different levels of
affordability. He explained the distinction between rental and for sale projects and noted that
lower income units would qualify projects for a higher bonus; additional units are likely to be
market rate to off-set the cost of providing affordable units.

Chair Heath asked if there was any way to guarantee moderate units.

Deputy Director Marshall discussed that dwellings may be moderate income by design. He
noted moderate income is 80% to 120% of area median income (AMI).

Director Parker noted the State uses density as a proxy for income — recognizing a city cannot
dictate income levels.

Commissioner Derby asked what happens if the Commission votes no.

Deputy Director Marshall said the recommendation would be forward to the City Council.
Commissioner Derby asked what happens if the City Council votes no.

Director Parker explained the rezones are mandatory to meet RHNA — RHNA is law.
Commissioner Derby asked about looking at other sites.

Director Parker explained the 2024 deadline for rezones.

Chair Heath noted the properties are part of a package and the Commission needs to decide
whether to recommend one, two, or all three of the sites.

Page | 6 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Commissioner Derby said he was comfortable pulling at least one site.

Commissioner Crockett expressed support for the Novato Boulevard property and recognized
it is better to proceed with the Meadow Crest property as proposed by staff. Regarding 200
Landing Court, he acknowledged the community concerns and the pressures faced by the
City — but with the parameters in place it's better to proceed now than what the city might face
down the road.

Commissioner Dawson supported the rezoning the Novato Boulevard property. He supported
the rezoning of the Meadow Crest property and noted the open space area could be revised.
He had difficulty with the proposed amendments to the Landing Court property.

Commissioner Derby noted the pressure surrounding adoption of the Housing Element and
no one being in the audience at that meeting. However, he wants the Planning Commission
to weigh-in on the revised Housing Element. He had concern about higher densities and
thought medium density was a better play, possibly smaller lot detached housing.

Commissioner Engdahl was concerned about opportunities for public input. He noted living in
a beautiful city and this effort changing neighborhoods. He acknowledged the owners of the
Meadow Crest property have a different view about development of their property.

Commissioner Tiernan asked additional questions about the deadline for the amendments
and density bonus law.

Director Parker noted that larger projects are most impactful from a RHNA perspective, and
that density bonus is available as a tool. She commented on removing the Landing Court
property from consideration.

Commissioner Engdahl commented on meeting the moderate income gap with other sites, not
the Landing Court property.

Commissioner Tiernan noted he supported excluding the Landing Court property.

Chair Heath commented she thought the Landing Court site was a reasonable housing site,
but had concern that limiting the developable area of the Meadow Crest site was too restrictive
with the open space designation. She encouraged the Meadow Crest owners to meet with
staff.

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Dawson and second by
Commissioner Derby, the Planning Commission voted 6-1 via roll call to adopt the
resolution recommending the City Council find the proposed amendments to be exempt
from further CEQA review pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15162 and 15164 based
on the Addendum to the Final EIR for Novato General Plan 2035.

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Engdahl, Heath, and Tiernan
NOES: Commissioner Havel

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: None

Page | 7 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Motion Carried.

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Derby and second by
Commissioner Dawson, the Planning Commission voted 7-0 via roll call to adopt the
resolution recommending the City Council amend the land use map and text of Novato
General Plan 2035 to implement program 1.A. of Novato’s 6" Cycle Housing Element,
excluding the property at 200 Landing Court (APN 153-170-56).

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Engdahl, Havel, Heath, and Tiernan
NOES: None

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: None

Motion carried.

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Derby and second by
Commissioner Dawson, the Planning Commission voted 6-1 via roll call to adopt the
resolution recommending the City Council amend the Zoning Map to implement
program 1.A. of Novato’s 6" Cycle Housing Element, excluding the property at 200
Landing Court (APN 153-170-56).

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Engdahl, Havel, and Tiernan
NOES: Commissioner Heath

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: None

Motion Carried.

F.2. SUKHASIDDHI FOUNDATION
ZONING INTERPRETATION; FILE NO. P2023-059
CEQA EXEMPT - CEQA GUIDELINES SECTION 15061(b)(3)
384 BEL MARIN KEYS BOULEVARD, APN 157-461-09

Senior Planner Zitelli presented the staff report.

Jeff Koblick, property manager of 384 Bel Marin Keys Boulevard, spoke about the project site,
and Leslie Shelton, representing Sukhasiddhi Foundation (“the Foundation”),and provided a
presentation on the intended use of the tenant space.

Leslie Shelton, representing the Sukhasiddhi Foundation, provide an overview of the
Foundation and its planned operations at 384 Bel Marin Keys Boulevard. She commented on
the vacancy rate in the Novato Industrial Park, reportedly 38%. She provided information on
meeting schedules and the number of expected participants.

Chair Heath opened the public hearing.

Stacey Marvel, a Novato resident and participant in the Foundation, asked the Planning
Commission to consider allowing the Foundation to use the proposed location for their
intended activities. She commented that in-person attendance is dwindling and more
participation is moving online.

Page | 8 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Scott Davis, a Novato resident stated that he participates in the Foundation’s classes and that
the in-person classes are very small. He believes the use is a benefit to the community, and
it would be good to bring more people to the Industrial Park area of Novato.

Jennifer Grant, a Foundation participant, stated the administrative use takes many more hours
than the amount of time spent on classes. She stated the Foundation would not complain
about potential noise from surrounding tenants within the Industrial Park.

Chair Heath closed the public hearing.

Commissioner Crockett stated he did not read the business description to indicate an
educational entity.

Commissioner Dawson supported characterizing the business as an office first and meetings
as secondary activity.

Commissioner Derby asked Mr. Koblick if there were concerns over possible impacts to
existing tenants of the building.

Mr. Koblick responded that he managed a building in Fairfax where the Foundation was
previously a tenant, and they were courteous to their fellow tenants in that building. He did not
have concerns about impacts on existing tenants at the Bel Marin Keys location.

Commissioner Derby asked if staff had concerns about the proposed use.

Deputy Director Marshall responded that staff was concerned about a similar use being
proposed in the Industrial Park in the future, and how would staff handle such a request, as
staff must be consistent. He said if the Commission was inclined to allow the proposed use, it
would be helpful to staff to hear what they believe distinguishes an office from a school use.

City Attorney Gary Bell stated the item is not an appeal and that it is a decision on first instance,
meaning the Planning Commission’s action can be appealed to the City Council. He stated
the Commission should be guided by the current definitions for each use, and the process for
allowing new uses is a separate process than a zoning interpretation.

Commission Engdahl observed that offices train people and asked what the difference is
between an office and a school when training is involved.

Deputy Director Marshall stated that in the Foundation’s instance, training is the primary
activity where with an office, training is an ancillary use.

Commissioner Tiernan stated the Foundation’s brochure indicated training was the primary
use, however he was hearing something different.

Deputy Director Marshall offered an example of BioMarin providing training for its employees,
but this would be ancillary to its main use of biotechnology research and pharmaceutical
production.

Page | 9 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

Commission Havel stated this was tough because it appeared to be a benign use operated by
good people, however the area was set aside for industrial use. If the Commission starts
straying away from the zoning regulations, then the area will no longer be available for
industrial uses. He would prefer to adhere to the zoning regulations so there are no future
conflicts.

Chair Heath asked if the Foundation could use the location for just an office use.
Deputy Director Marshall responded yes.
Commission Engdahl asked how many employees work in the office.

Ms. Shelton responded 1-2 full time employees, with volunteers coming to help. Up to 10
volunteers at a time could be anticipated, however it varies.

Commissioner Crockett asked if the use could be allowed through a conditional use permit.

Deputy Director Marshall responded the Industrial Park master plan provides a defined list of
uses allowed at this location and schools are not included on that list. The Master Plan could
be amended to allow the use. However, an amendment would need to come back to Planning
Commission and go to the City Council for action.

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Havel and seconded by
Commissioner Tiernan, the Planning Commission voted 4-3 via roll call to adopt the
resolution upholding the zoning interpretation as recommended by staff.

AYES: Commissioners Crockett, Havel, Heath, and Tiernan
NOES: Commissioners Dawson, Derby, Engdahl
ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: None

Motion Carried.

G. GENERAL BUSINESS - NONE

H. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS

Deputy Director Marshall noted the next Planning Commission meeting is January 8, 2023,
which will include several items for the Commission’s review.

ADJOURNMENT
The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 9:53 PM.

| HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly adopted at the Planning
Commission meeting of January 27, 2025.

/Steve Marshall/
Steve Marshall, Deputy Community Development Director

Page | 10 Phone No. (415) 899-8900
novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213


https://novato.org/

